IN THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA : CRI M NAL ACTI ON
VS.
| FEDOO NOBLE ENI GAE : NO  92-00257

MEMORANDUM

DuBA S, J. JULY 16, 1997

This matter is before the Court on the Mtion of defendant,
| fedoo Noble Enigwe, to Vacate, Set Aside, or Correct Sentence
Pursuant to 28 U. S.C. § 2255 ("2255 Mdtion"). For the reasons set
forth bel ow, defendant's 8§ 2255 Mdtion will be denied.

| . BACKGROUND'

Thi s case ari ses out of defendant's inportation of heroininto
the United States. On May 6, 1992, a Grand Jury in the Eastern
District of Pennsylvania returned a four count indictnent agai nst

| f edoo Nobl e Eni gwe, a/k/a "Dam en,"” charging himw th: conspiracy
to inport heroin, in violation of 21 U.S.C. 88 952(a), 960(a)(1),
960(b) (1) (A), and 963 (Count 1); inporting, and ai di ng and abetting
the inportation of heroin, in violation of 21 U S.C. 88 952(a),
960(a) (1), 960(b)(1)(A) and 18 U.S.C. 8 2 (Count 11); and aiding

and abetting travel in foreign comrerce for the purpose of

inmporting heroin into the United States, and thereafter willfully

! A nore detailed version of the background of this case is
set forth in this Court's Opinion of Septenber 11, 1995. Uni t ed
States v. Enigwe, Crim A No. 92-00257, 1995 W. 549110 (E. D. Pa.
Sep. 11, 1995).




performng and attenpting to perform acts to facilitate the
importation of heroin, in violation of 18 US. C. 88 2 and
1952(a)(3) and 21 U.S.C. 8§ 952(a) (Counts Il and 1V). Defendant's
trial took five days, and on August 7, 1992 he was convicted by a
jury on all four counts of the indictnent.

Def endant filed several notions for a newtrial, all of which
were denied. On August 13, 1993, the Court sentenced defendant to
235 nonths in prison, five years of supervised rel ease, a fine, and
a special assessnent. The Third Grcuit affirmed the conviction
and sentence in an unpublished Menorandum dated April 28, 1994.

Defendant filed a pro se Mtion to Vacate, Set Aside, or
Correct his Sentence pursuant to 28 U S. C 8§ 2255, on August 24,
1994. The Court conducted an evidentiary hearing on the Mtion on
Novenber 23 and 28, 1994. Def endant proceeded pro se at that
hearing and both defendant and his trial counsel, Joseph Capone,
testified. The Court denied the § 2255 Mdtion by Menorandum and
Order dated Septenber 11, 1995. United States v. Enigwe, Crim A

No. 92-00257, 1995 W. 549110 (Sep. 11, 1995 E.D. Pa. 1995). On
Sept enber 26, 1995, defendant filed a Motion for Reconsideration
Pursuant to Rule 59(e) and Rul e 60(b) of the Federal Rules of Cvil
Procedure. The Motion for Reconsideration was denied on March 1,

1996 by Menorandum and Order. United States v. Enigwe, No. Crim

A. 92-00257, 1996 W. 92076 (E.D. Pa. Mar. 1, 1996).
Def endant appeal ed the denial of his § 2255 Mtion. One of
the argunents raised on appeal was that this Court should have

appoi nted counsel to represent defendant at the evidentiary

2



hearing. The governnment agreed with plaintiff's contention and
filed a Motion to Remand to the District Court. The Third Crcuit
by Order dated July 23, 1996 treated the governnent's Motion

as a notion for summary action pursuant to Local
Appellate Rule 27.4 and Chapter 10.6 of [the Third
Circuit's] Internal Operating Procedures[ and rul ed t hat
t]he district court's order entered Septenber 12, 1995,
whi ch deni ed appellant's notion under 28 U. S. C

8§ 2255, to vacate, set aside or correct sentence, is
vacated and the matter is summarily remanded to the
district court. Upon remand, the district court shoul d
appoi nt the appel | ant [defendant] counsel as nandat ed by
Rul e 8(c) of the Rules Governing 8 2255 Proceedi ngs and
hold a new evidentiary hearing." United States V.
Enigwe, C A No. 95-1984 (3d Cr. July 23, 1996)
(unpubl i shed order).

Pursuant to the Third CGrcuit's Order, this Court appointed
counsel to represent defendant. An evidentiary hearing on
defendant's 8§ 2255 Motion was held on February 20 and 21, 1997 and
on June 3, 1997. Def endant testified on February 20th and his
trial counsel, Capone, testified on February 20th and 21st. The
hearing was continued to June 3rd, at which tine the Court was to
hear closing argunents and the testinony of a former Federal
Def ender, L. Felipe Restrepo, who had been assigned to represent
def endant before the Federal Defender Association disqualified
itself and Capone was appointed in its stead. A Verification
reflecting Restrepo's brief involvenent with defendant's case was
submtted to the Court in March, and an Affidavit supplenenting
that Verification was submtted at the June 3rd hearing. Defendant
agreed that the Court's consideration of those two docunents
obvi ated the need for Restrepo to testify at that hearing. Thus,

only cl osi ng argunents and conments on ancillary matters were heard
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on June 3rd.

1. DI SCUSSI ON

Def endant's pro se filings urge the Court to grant defendant's
§ 2255 Motion for a nunmber of reasons. However, as is explained
bel ow, after the appoi ntnment of counsel defendant agreed not to
proceed on nost of the grounds set forth in his pro se filings but
rather to present only the two issues his attorney believed had

merit, each of which is di scussed bel ow

A. Def endant Agreed Not to Proceed on the G ounds Set Forth in
H's Pro Se Filings

During the first day of the evidentiary hearing, defendant's
attorney told the Court that defendant had decided to drop his pro
sefilings and rely solely on his attorney. Transcript of February
20, 1997, at 3 ("Feb. 20 Tr."). The Court verified that
i nformation by asking defendant "You ve filed a nunber of pro se
papers with the Court. The files are full of them \Wat is your
position with respect to those pro se papers? And in that
connection, your attorney has said you' re not proceeding on the
basis of those pro se papers?' |d. at 4. Def endant repli ed:
"Well, your Honor, ny position today is that | have reviewed the

papers filed by ny attorney, and | have decided to take his advice

and drop the pro se pleadings and just rely on his representation.”

Id. (enphasis added).
On April 16, 1997 the Court received a copy of a letter



defendant sent to his attorney, dated April 14, 1997. I n that
| etter defendant expressed his concern that counsel's efforts on
his behalf did not seem calculated to result in a sufficient
reduction i n defendant's sentence. Defendant wote: "I would|like
to rem nd you [counsel] that | waived all ny other issues because

you told ne, in the presence of a witness, that youwll try to get

me under nine years." Letter from Ifedoo Noble Enigwe to

Chri stopher Warren, Esq. 1 (Apr. 14, 1997) (enphasis original). In
light of this letter the Court decided to once again colloquy
def endant as to whether he wanted to argue all of the theories set
forth in his pro se filings.

When t he evi denti ary hearing was conti nued on June 3, 1997 t he
Court addressed the April 14th letter. Transcript of June 3, 1997,
at 5-34. ("June 3 Tr."). After questioning defense counsel on the

i ssue, the Court conducted an extensive coll oquy of defendant, as

fol |l ows:
THE COURT: Well, now I'Il hear fromyou regarding
this so-call ed pron se. Di d anyone prom se you a ni ne-
year sentence or did anyone say |I'll try to get you a

ni ne-year sentence?

MR. ENI GAE: Yes, Your Honor. M. Warren told ne
that he will try to get me under nine years. But, as
time went on, you know, we were going through the
gui deline stuff. So, but when he argued | evel 34, | felt
that it -- you know, it contradicted that statenent he
made. So, --

THE COURT: All right. | want you to assune that
you m ght not get a sentence of nine years. You night
not get any reduced sentence at all. | mght deny your
petition. Assune that and tell ne what you want to do
regarding all of these other issues. |If you wish to go
forward with them we'll give you an opportunity to do
that. |If you're prepared to go forward now, we'll do it
NOow. | vou need nore tinme, we'll give you nore tine.
You tell ne what you want to do. But, vou're going to do
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it now

MR. ENIGAE: Yes sir.

THE COURT: You had an opportunity -- if M. Warren
said this and | haven't heard fromhimon it, but | can
tell you now I want you to assune that that doesn't
happen, that you're not going to get nine years and you
m ght not get any reduction in your sentence at all, |
m ght deny the petition. Now, knowi ng that that -- those
are possibilities, what do you want to dowth regard to
t hese ot her issues? And, if you want to go forward with

them and you're ready to do it now, we'll do it now.
And, if you want nore tine to think about them and bri ef
them or do whatever you want to do, |'ll consider that
request as well. You tell ne

MR. EN GWE: Well, Your anor, knowi ng ever vt hi ng
vou' ve said now and knowi ng that with the denial of the

notion that | still have 235 nonths, |I', still going to
wai ve all those clains and I'mstill going to shake M.
Warren's hand as a good | awer. And, |1'm doi ng that
knowi ngly, voluntarily and intelligently today. 1d. at

30-31 (enphasi s added).

After defendant's waiver only two issues remain to be
addressed in this Menorandum 1) The all eged ineffectiveness of
defendant's trial counsel in advising defendant as to whether he
should plead guilty without a plea agreenent and 2) The all eged
i neffectiveness of defendant's trial counsel in advising def endant

whet her he should testify at trial.

B. Standard for | neffectiveness
Defendant's ineffective assistance of counsel <claim is

controlled by Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). In

Strickland, Justice O Connor explained that such a clai mrequires

t hat a defendant establish two things:

First, the defendant nust show that counsel's
performance was deficient. This requires show ng that
counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not
functioning as the "counsel " guarant eed t he def endant by
the Sixth Amendnent [to the Constitution of the United
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St at es]. Second, the defendant nust show that the
deficient performance prejudiced the defense. Thi s
requi res show ng that counsel's errors were so seri ous as
to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose
result is reliable. Unl ess a defendant mnekes both
showi ngs, it cannot be said that the conviction or death
penalty resulted from a breakdown in the adversary
process that renders the result unreliable. 1d. at 687.

To establish the first prong of the Strickland test a

def endant nust show that counsel's performance was so deficient
that it fell bel ow"an objective standard of reasonabl eness.” 1d.
at 687-688. To establish the second prong, prejudice, a defendant
must show that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for
counsel ' s unprofessional errors, theresult of the proceedi ng woul d
have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability
sufficient to underm ne confidence in the outcone." 1d. at 694.

For the reasons that follow, the Court concludes that

def endant' s counsel was not ineffective.

C. Advice Wth Respect to Pleading Guilty Wthout a
Pl ea Agreenent

1. Capone's Advice Fell Below an Qbjective Standard
of Reasonabl eness

Def endant contends that his trial counsel, Capone, was
ineffective in advising himw th respect to whet her he shoul d have
pled guilty without the benefit of a plea agreenent (an "open
pl ea"). The governnment argues that Capone was, in |ight of
defendant' s consistent and adamant assertions of his innocence,
objectively reasonable in the advice he gave, and thus not

i neffective.



Capone testified extensively at the evidentiary hearing.? In
the course of that testinony, Capone touched upon every aspect of
his relationship with defendant. The Court is, at this tinme, only
concerned with the advice Capone gave defendant with respect to
whet her def endant shoul d pl ead guilty wi thout the benefit of a plea
agreenent. Capone summarized that advice at the hearing: "I would
say that | advised himbasically not to take an open plea [and] to
go to trial." Transcript of February 21, 1997, at 8. ("Feb. 21
Tr."). As becane clear during the cross-exam nation of Capone,
that advice fell below an objective standard of reasonabl eness.

Capone explained at the evidentiary hearing that he advi sed
defendant not to plead guilty because defendant would get "the
same" sentence whether he pled guilty or went to trial and was
convi ct ed:

BY MR WARREN:

Q Wwell, let nme ask you this, sir. Did you tell M.
Eni gwe on June 16th, 1992, that an open plea nade no
sense what soever, because he would receive the sane
sentence with that plea that he would get if he went to
trial and was convi ct ed.

A [M. Capone] Dd 1l tell himthat on June 16th?

Q Yes.

A No, | don't believe | told it to himon June 16th.
Q Ddyoutell himthat at any tine?

A Yes. | told him-- and when | use the word sane --
may | explain ny answer?

THE COURT: Absol ut el y.

MR. WARREN. Well, it -- okay. Go ahead.

THE COURT: Yes. |If he answers yes, and he said
yes to your question, "Did you tell him that at any
time," he can explain the answer. Go ahead.

THE WTNESS: Yes, | essentially told himthat. And

> The Court recognizes that in 1995 Capone pled guilty to
meki ng a fal se statenent on a bank | oan application and w ||
consi der that conviction in judging Capone's credibility.
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when | say the sane, | neant in ny heart to this man
that if he woul d have pl ed open, that he woul d have been
hit with everything the Governnent had to offer him

Wien | say offer him of course, and we've been
through it already, but all of the additional
ram fications and nuances of t he Qui del i nes, including as
much wei ght as they could throw on him including his
role in the offense, including anything el se they could
do. And that's exactly what | neant when | said the
sane.

And when | say the sanme, | nmeant, you know, if there
was a difference between maybe a two point reduction or

two points up -- when you're tal king about 20 years of
the your life, nmaybe 18 or maybe 22 in iy opinion and in
explaining ny answer, | don't think it makes nuch of a
difference, to ne that would be the sane.

If I had to spend 18 years or 20 years in jail

guess what, tone it basically is the sane. That's what
| nmeant. Feb. 21 Tr., at 5-6.

"Prior to trial an accused is entitled to rely upon his
counsel to make an independent exam nation of the facts,
ci rcunst ances, pleadings, and | aws involved and then to offer his

i nformed opi ni on as to what pl ea shoul d be entered.” Von Mltke v.

Gllies, 332 U S. 708, 721 (1948). "Know edge of the conparative
sent ence exposure between standing trial and accepting a plea offer
will often be crucial to the decision whether to plead guilty."

United States v. Day, 969 F.2d 39, 43 (3d Gr. 1992). The sane

rational e applies where, as in this case, a defendant is advi sed by
his attorney as to whet her he should enter an open pl ea or proceed
to trial.

In this case, Capone told defendant that he risked no
addi ti onal sentence exposure by going totrial. That statenent is
sinmply untrue. Eighteen, twenty and twenty-two years are not "t he

sane. Capone's position is not one a reasonable attorney woul d

t ake.



Def endant's sentence was cal culated using the 1991 United
States Sentencing Quidelines ("USSG'), beginning with a base
of fense |l evel of thirty-two. That offense | evel was increased by
four levels, tothirty-six, pursuant to USSG 8§ 3Bl1. 1(a) because t he
Court concluded that defendant was "an organi zer or |eader of a
crimnal activity that involved five or nore participants.” An
addi tional two | evel enhancenent was added pursuant to USSG
8§ 3Cl.1 Dbecause the Court concluded that defendant had perjured
hinself at trial. Thus, the total offense | evel used to cal cul ate
defendant's sentence was thirty-eight. As a first tinme offender,
def endant was placed in Crimnal H story Category |. The range for
a defendant in Crimnal H story Category | with a total offense
level of thirty-eight is 235 to 293 nonths. Def endant was
sentenced to 235 nonths because the Court concluded that such a
sentence would fulfill all of the goals of sentencing.

Had defendant pled guilty he could not have given testinony
inconsistent with the jury's verdict and would not have been
subj ect to the perjury enhancenent. Had he been sentenced w t hout
a two | evel enhancenent for perjury his total offense | evel would
have been thirty-six and his sentencing range 188 to 235 nonths.
And, had defendant received a sentence at the |low end of that
range, he woul d have recei ved a sentence just under four years | ess
than the sentence at the I ow end of the range within which he was
sentenced. That al one establishes that Capone's characterization
of defendant's |ikely sentence as "the same" whether he entered an

open plea or proceeded to trial falls bel ow an objective standard
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of reasonabl eness. Mor eover, had defendant pled guilty and
accepted responsibility he woul d have been entitled to a two | evel
reduction pursuant to USSG § 3E1l. 1, which would have resulted in a
total offense | evel of thirty-four and a sentencing range of 168 to
210 nont hs. That sentencing range i s not objectively "the sane" as
the sentencing range considered by the Court at defendant's
sent enci ng.

Accordingly, the Court concludes that Capone's advice fel
bel ow an objective standard of reasonabl eness when he advised
def endant that, in essence, he woul d derive no benefit froman open
pl ea. The Court concludes only that Capone's advice fell bel ow an
obj ective standard of reasonabl eness when he failed to explain to
def endant that the sentence he woul d recei ve by agreeing to an open
pl ea woul d I'ikely be I ess than the sentence he woul d have recei ved
if he was tried and found guilty. The Court does not concl ude t hat
Capone's advice fell bel ow an objective standard of reasonabl eness
because he did not provide defendant a detail ed conparison of the
sentenci ng ranges applicable in those two scenari os.

Al t hough defendant has satisfied the first prong of

Strickland, he is entitled to a reduction in his sentence only if

Capone's advice resulted in actual prejudice. For the reasons that
follow, the Court concludes that no such prejudice resulted from
Capone' s advi ce.

2. Capone's Advi ce Regarding an Open Guilty Plea D d Not
Prej udi ce Def endant

To establish prejudice,
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[ Eni gwe] need not prove with absolute certainty that he
woul d have pl eaded guilty, that the district court woul d
have approved t he pl ea arrangenent, and that he therefore
woul d have received a | esser sentence. Strickland v.
Washi ngton does not require certainty or even a
pr eponder ance of the evi dence t hat t he out cone woul d have
been different wth effective assistance of counsel; it
requires only "reasonable probability" that that is the
case. United States v. Day, 969 F.2d 39, 45n.8 (3d Gr.
1992) (citations omtted).

The Third GCircuit has not yet had occasi on to det erm ne whet her the
"reasonabl e probability" standard requires a defendant to produce
obj ective evidence supporting his claimthat he would have pled
guilty had counsel properly advised him See id, at 45-46. This
Court need not answer that question because it does not find
credi bl e defendant's testinony that he woul d have pled guilty had
he been advi sed properly and rejects the "objective evidence" he
offers in support of that testinony.

When defendant was asked if he would have pled guilty had
Capone advi sed himproperly, he testified as foll ows:

Q [M. Warren] Sir, if you had known that by pl eadi ng
guilty and accepting responsibility for your conduct,
your sentence woul d have been 151 to 188 nonths, would
your decision to go to trial have been different?

A O course.

Q well, how so? Wat would have been different?

A It would have been different because, you know, once
| see the difference in what | could get going to trial
as opposed to what | coul d get pl eading guilty, you know,
even though the 151 nonths is not one day but conparing
it with the 235 nonths, | would definitely plead guilty.
Q Al right. Now, sir, you sit up there convicted of
those crinmes, right?

A Uh- huh.

Q How s the Judge to know that you're not just giving
hi mt he benefit of hindsight, that the only reason you're
saying this is because you went to trial and got
convi cted and now you want the benefit of a deal?

A Well, this is not altogether hindsight because if |
had the benefit of the good advice to start with, then |
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woul d have had everything in front of ne to make my, you

know, my deci sions on, you know, as opposed to just being

led into sonething -- a landmne that | have no idea

about and then -- that is hindsight, you know, being | ed

into that |andm ne. Feb. 20 Tr., at 39-40.

The Court does not find this testinony credible. Def endant
adamant |y and consi stently professed his i nnocence and asserted he
was a victim of mstaken identity before, during, and after his
trial. Feb. 20 Tr., at 86 ("Q [M. Nugent, Assistant United
States Attorney] [Dlid he [defendant] nmai ntain that he was i nnocent
to you [Capone] throughout the pretrial stages of this case? A
[ M. Capone] Throughout the case -- throughout -- Q Throughout
the trial he nmaintained his innocence to you? A Yes, throughout
the case. Q Throughout the post-trial notions, he naintained his
i nnocence to you? A Yes, he did.").

In a June 17, 1992 letter to Capone, defendant wote that "I
have categorically denied the conmsion [sic] of those crines or
having associated wth those individuals that alleged the
conspiracy." Exhibit G 1, Letter from |Ifedoo Noble Enigwe to
Joseph P. Capone, Esq. 3 (June 17, 1992). On July 23, 1997

def endant wote another letter to Capone, in which defendant wote

"Let us do this the right way, please | aminnocent and w sh that

no small m stakes will render neinto a prejudiced trial." Exhibit
G 3, Letter from|fedoo Noble Enigwe to Joseph P. Capone, Esq. 1
(July 23, 1997) (enphasis added). At the February 1997 evidenti ary

hearing Capone testified that "I gave, at our initial neeting, M.
Eni gwe several options. | said, |ook, you could plead guilty open,
you coul d cooperate and plead guilty, you can go to trial. M.
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Enigwe fromthe first day | net himprofessed his i nnocence. And

that was it." Feb. 20 Tr., at 82 (enphasis added). Throughout the
heari ng Capone consistently testified that defendant had al ways
prof essed his i nnocence and had never been willing to even consi der
pl eading guilty. See Feb. 20 Tr., at 83, 86, 89, 94-95, 108, 116-
118; Feb. 21 Tr., at 8, 34, 65, 67, 69. The Court, having heard
def endant nmake such assertions on many occasions, finds Capone's
testinony on this issue credible.

The governnent introduced further evidence suggesting that
def endant was never willing to plead guilty. During the second day
of the evidentiary hearing, February 21, 1997, the governnent read
the followng into the record:

MR,  NUGENT: Answers to Interrogatories, Special
Agent Otman [of the Drug Enforcenment Agency],
specifically interrogatory nunber one, Agent Otman's
response.

THE COURT: Read it into the record.

MR. NUGENT: "Question: Do you renenber telling ne
[ defendant] to be prepared to have a round table talk
with yourself, agent Rogers and AUSA Rol and Jarvis"?
[ sic]

THE COURT: And the ne there is M. Eni gwe?

MR, NUGENT: Correct.

THE COURT: And the answer?

MR, NUGENT: "Answer: Agent Ortnman never tol d Eni gwe
to be prepared to 'have a round table talk.’ Agent
O tman advised Enigwe that after Enigwe's consultation
with counsel, all parties could neet if Enigwe and his
counsel wanted to discuss a possible plea and
cooperation. [sic]

"By way of further response Enigwe repeatedly and
adamantly denied to Agent Ortman any involvenent in the
charged offenses or any know edge of any drugs. "

MR. WARREN: And for the record, on behalf of M.
Eni gwe, | have no objection to the Court considering the
interrogatory answer in lieu of Agent Otman's live
testi nony. Feb. 21 Tr., at 82-83 (enphasis added)
(quoti ng Governnent's Response t o Def endant' s Request for
Adm ssion Pursuant to Rule 6, Rules Governing 8§ 2255
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Motions (Docunent No. 182, filed Feb. 6, 1997) (filed in
response to Defendant's Pro Se Motion for Leave of Court
to Al ow Def endant's Request for Adm ssion Pursuant to
Rul e 6, Rul es Governing 8 2255 Mdti ons (Docunment No. 173,
filed August 22, 1996)).

Furthernore, defendant's testinony with respect to his
dealings wth Restrepo suggests that defendant was not willing to
pl ead guilty at any ti nme and shoul d not be believed now. Defendant
testified that

Q [M. Nugent] Okay. Let's ask it another way, M.

Enigwe, if M. Restreppo® had gone over the Guidelines

With you, is it your testinony today that you wold [sic]

have pled guilty?

A |If M. Restreppo had advised ne and then | | ook at the

di fference between going to trial and pleading guilty,

with the difference as we calculated it [at this

hearing], yes, | would conceded that I will [sic] not go

to trial." Feb. 21 Tr., at 53-54.

However, Restrepo's Verification states that he "ha[s] reviewed t he
contents of M. Enigwe's file provided to ne [Restrepo] by the

[ Federal] Defender Association. M/ notes reflect that the

qui deli ne range of 121 to 151 nonths was specifically discussed

with M. Enigwe." Verification of L. Felipe Restrepo Pursuant to

28 U S.C. 8§ 1746 (Docunent No. 192, filed Mar. 17, 1997), at § §;
see also Affidavit of L. Felipe Restrepo (submtted at the June 3,
1997 hearing), at 1 4 ("I took notes during ny neeting with M.
Enigwe and they reflect that | advised him that the sentencing
range that applied to his case was 121 to 151 nonths
i nprisonnent."). That is, Restrepo states, subject to penalty of

perjury, that he did discuss the USSG with defendant--in direct

® The proper spelling of this name is Restrepo.
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contradiction of defendant's testinony. Mor eover, the range
mentioned by Restrepo is a range simlar to that which defendant
now cont ends woul d have i nduced hi mto pl ead guilty--yet he did not
consi der a deal at that tinme. The Court concludes that Restrepois
credi bl e and defendant is not credible.

Def endant contends that there are two pieces of objective
evi dence that corroborate his testinony. First, defendant argues
that Capone's testinony at the Novenber 23, 1994 evidentiary
hearing on the § 2255 Motion that defendant trusted Capone's advice
as to whether to plead qguilty is objective evidence. Second,
def endant points to Capone's Novenber 23, 1994 testinony that,
pur suant to Capone's advi ce, defendant abandoned a def ense based on
the theory that the object of the conspiracy was di anond snuggl i ng,
not heroin inportation. Considering all of the evidence in the
case, the Court concludes that the so-call ed objective evidence to
whi ch def endant points does not support his position.

In the first place, Capone's testinony at the Novenber 23,
1994 evidentiary hearing nmust be put in context. At that hearing,
Capone described the state of his relationship with defendant in
June of 1992, shortly after their first neeting. Capone testified
that "you [defendant] felt a good rapport between the two of us.
| think you trusted ny advice as to whether it should be a plea or
whether it should be a trial and you were bent on going to trial.
You di d not want to cooperate with the Governnent." See Transcri pt
of Novenber 23, 1994, at 95. That defendant took Capone's advice

not to enter an open plea--advice that did not conflict wth
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defendant's assertions of innocence--is sinply not evidence that
def endant woul d have taken Capone's advi ce had Capone reconmended
aguilty plea--advice that conflicts with defendant's assertions of
i nnocence. In fact, it is clear that defendant rejected Capone's
advi ce that he shoul d accept a plea bargain. See Feb. 21 Tr., at
32-36 ("Q [M. Nugent] Now, when you net M. Enigwe at Fairton on
August 1st, 1992, did you discuss the CGovernnent's proposed
cooperation agreenent? A [M. Capone] Yes. Q D d you tell him
you t hought he should take it. A Yes. Q D d you tell himwhy
you t hought he should take it? A Yes."); see also Feb. 20 Tr., at
82-83, 87-92, 127-132. Thus, the first objective evidence relied
upon by defendant does not support his position.

The Court reaches the sanme conclusion with respect to the
evidence that defendant agreed to follow Capone's advice and
abandon a defense based on the theory that the object of the
conspi racy was di anond snuggl i ng as opposed to heroin inportation.
Def endant was very active in his defense, as evidenced by the
nunerous letters he wote to Capone i n which he suggested theories
for his defense, sonetines including case citations in support
thereof. See Exhibits G1, G 3, and G4 (letters fromdefendant to
Capone). On the other hand, there is no evidence that defendant
blindly foll owed Capone's advice. Rather, the evidence suggests
t hat defendant carefully consi dered Capone's advi ce on a nunber of
i ssues, discussed that advice with Capone, and t hen nmade deci si ons.

It is always difficult for a court to explain on a cold piece

of paper what transpired in a courtroom In particular, it is
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al ways difficult to explain why sone or all of a witness' testinony
rings true and sone or all of the testinony of another does not.
The Court has had nmuch experience with defendant and has heard his
consi stent assertions of his innocence. In light of the
i nconsi stenci es di scussed above, defendant's prior assertions of
i nnocence, the evidence provided by Restrepo and Special Agent
Otman, and with the benefit of having actually heard defendant's
testinony, the Court concludes that his testinony that he woul d
have pled guilty had Capone been effective is not credi ble. Thus,
def endant was not prejudi ced by Capone' s i neffectiveness and i s not

entitled to a nodification of his sentence. *

D. Capone Was Not | neffective in Advising Defendant as to
Whet her He Shoul d Testify at Trial

Def endant al so argues that Capone was i neffective in advising
hi mas to whet her he should testify at his trial. As was discussed
earlier, defendant's base offense | evel was i ncreased by two | evel s
pursuant to USSG § 3Cl. 1 because the Court concl uded t hat def endant
had perjured hinself at trial. Defendant contends that he never
would have testified had counsel told him of the perjury

enhancenent, and thus never would have recei ved the enhancenent.

* The Court recognizes that defendant's prior assertions of
i nnocence do not preclude a finding in this case that he would
have accepted a guilty plea had he been properly advised by
Capone. See Kates v. United States, 930 F. Supp 189, 192 (E. D.
Pa. 1996) (concluding that a defendant, despite his assertions of
i nnocence, would have pled guilty had he been properly advi sed by
his attorney). However, the evidence presented does not convince
the Court that defendant woul d have accepted a guilty plea had he
been properly advi sed by counsel.
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Therefore, argues defendant, Capone was ineffective and def endant
was prejudiced by the two | evel increase in his offense I evel. The
gover nnent contends that Capone was not ineffective and did, in
fact, inform defendant of the perjury enhancenent.

A significant portion of defendant's testinony focused on a
neeting he had with Capone close to the date of the trial. Feb. 20
Tr., at 22-27. That testinony included a discussion of whether
Capone properly advi sed defendant as to whether he should testify
and as to the exi stence of the perjury enhancenent. Questioned by
hi s counsel and the Court, defendant's testinony was inconsistent
as to whether Capone 1) told himhe had the right not to testify
and 2) encouraged himto testify. 1d., at 24-25. The Court does
not find that portion of defendant's testinony credible. On the
ot her hand, Capone testified that he advi sed defendant to take the
W t ness stand because he did not believe that the jury woul d accept
defendant' s m sidentification defenseinthe absence of defendant's
testinony. 1d., at 93-94. The Court finds this testinony credible
and concludes that Capone's advice with respect to whether
def endant should testify did not fall bel ow an objective standard
of reasonabl eness.

Capone testified that he di scussed the perjury enhancenent in
detail with defendant and al so advised himthat, in his opinion,
t he enhancenent was unconstitutional. Feb. 21 Tr., at 36-39. In
addi ti on, Capone testified that he told the defendant to tell the
truth:

Q [M. Varren] D d you believe that M. Enigwe was
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going to commt perjury when he took the stand?

A [M. Capone] No.

Q You thought he was going to tell the truth, right?

A | told himto tell the truth.

Q Okay. Wiy then woul d you advi se hi mabout enhancenents for
somet hing you didn't think he was going to do?

A | have a duty to do that under the | aw. Id. at 39.

Def endant, on the other hand, testified that Capone said absol utely
not hi ng to hi mabout the perjury enhancenent before he testified at
trial. Feb. 20 Tr., at 26, 40, 59-60.

The Court finds Capone to be credible when he testified that
he told defendant to tell the truth and advised him of the
possibility of a perjury enhancenent. The Sixth Anmendnent does not
require that defense counsel give a detailed explanation of the
USSGto his client. See Day, 969 F.2d at 43 ("W do not suggest
that, to conply wwth the Sixth Amendnent, counsel nust give each
def endant anyt hi ng approaching a detail ed exegesis of the nyriad
arguably rel evant nuances of the Guidelines."). Under all of the
circunstances of the case, the Court concludes that the advice
Capone gave with respect to the perjury enhancenent conports with
the requirenents of the Sixth Anendnent and did not fall belowthe

obj ective standard of reasonabl eness.

I'11. CONCLUSI ON
For the reasons set forth above, the Court wll deny the
Mot i on of defendant, |fedoo Noble Enigwe, to Vacate, Set Aside, or
Correct Sentence Pursuant to 28 U S.C. § 2255.
An approprlifdtEHOrddrTEDI $PABES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A
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UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA : CRI M NAL ACTI ON

VS.

| FEDOO NOBLE ENI GAE : NO  92-00257

ORDER

AND NOW to wt, this 16th day of July, 1997, upon
consi deration of the Motion of defendant, |Ifedoo Noble Enigwe, to
Vacate, Set Aside, or Correct Sentence Pursuant to 28 U.S. C. § 2255
(Docunent  No. 109, filed August 24, 1994), CGovernnent's
Suppl enent al Menorandum Fi | ed Pursuant to This Court's Order Dated
March 3, 1997 (Docunent No. 191, filed March 17, 1997), and
Def endant' s Post - heari ng Menorandum of Law i n Support of Mdttion to
Vacate Sentence (Docunent No. 193, filed March 19, 1997), and
related subm ssions of the parties, followng an evidentiary
hearing held on February 21 and 22, 1997 and continued on June 3,
1997, for the reasons set forth in the Menorandumacconpanying this
Oder, IT IS ORDERED that the Mtion of defendant, |fedoo Noble
Eni gwe, to Vacate, Set Aside, or Correct Sentence Pursuant to 28

U S.C 8§ 2255 is DEN ED.

BY THE COURT:
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JAN E. DuBA S, J.



